SUPR	REME COURT OF FLORIDA
	CASE NO.: SC02-152
	KEVIN M. STEELE,
	Petitioner,
	vs.
	SAN B. KINSEY and UNITED IOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY,
	Respondents.
ON DISC	CRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE
	OURT OF APPEAL, SECOND DISTRICT
CASE NOS	S. 2D00-4295, 2D00-4384 and 2D01-533
PETITIONER	S'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

DALE SWOPE
Fla. Bar No. 261270
SWOPE LAW GROUP
1234 East 5th Street
Tampa, Florida 33605
(813) 273-0017
(813) 223-3678 (fax)

LOUIS K. ROSENBLOUM Fla. Bar No. 194435 LOUIS K. ROSENBLOUM, P.A. 4300 Bayou Boulevard, Suite 36 Pensacola, Florida 32503 (850) 475-1211 (850) 475-1290 (fax)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Preliminary Statement

Petitioner Kevin M. Steele seeks review of the decision below from the District Court of Appeal, Second District, reported as Steele v. Kinsey, 801 So. 2d 297 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001) (Tab 1), in which the court affirmed a declaratory judgment holding that an automobile liability insurance policy issued by respondent United Automobile Insurance Company (United Auto) to Susan B. Kinsey does not provide coverage for attorney's fees and costs assessed against Kinsey pursuant to the offer of judgment statute, section 768.79, Florida Statutes.

In this brief, the record on appeal will be cited by designation "R" followed by the volume and page number assigned by the clerk of the circuit court. The following documents are appended to the brief:

Steele v. Kinsey, 801 So. 2d 297 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001)	Tab 1
Joint Stipulation and Agreement and Joint Motion for Stay (R1 146-52)	Tab 2
Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion to Determine Coverage (R2 354-57)	Tab 3
Final Declaratory Judgment Determining Insurance Coverage (R2 363)	Tab 4

Course of Proceedings in the Trial Court

On November 28, 1995, Steele filed an action for damages in Hillsborough County against Kinsey resulting from bodily injuries he sustained during a motor vehicle accident caused by Kinsey's negligence. (R1 1-4).

¹ Kinsey was insured for the accident by a standard automobile liability insurance policy issued by United Auto with bodily injury liability limits of \$10,000 per person and \$20,000 per accident. (R2 302).

On March 15, 1996, after United Auto assumed Kinsey's defense, Steele served a demand for judgment pursuant to section 768.79, Florida Statutes (1995), offering to settle his claim against Kinsey for \$10,000 plus taxable costs. (R1 8, 184). Kinsey did not accept Steele's settlement offer.

Subsequently, Steele, Kinsey, and United Auto executed and filed with the trial court a Joint Stipulation and Agreement and Joint Motion for Stay which particularized the terms of a settlement agreement. (R1 146-52; Tab 2).

2

¹ Steele also named his uninsured motorist carrier, Regal Insurance Company, as a party to the suit and later joined Margherita Yedwab and Margarita C. Harris, an owner and driver allegedly responsible for a subsequent accident and injuries which possibly overlapped Steele's injuries from the first accident. (R1 90-93). By stipulation, Yedwab, Harris and Regal Insurance Company were dismissed from the action. (R1 108-09, 110-11).

According to the stipulation, Steele's suit against Kinsey would be stayed while Kinsey promptly filed an action against United Auto for bad faith failure to settle Steele's claim for damages within United Auto's \$10,000 policy limits following the procedure approved by Cunningham v. Standard Guar. Ins. Co., 630 So. 2d 179 (Fla. 1994), in which this court held that the trial court had jurisdiction to determine by stipulation the insurer's liability for bad faith before adjudication of the underlying tort action. (R1 147 at $\P\P$ 1-2). The parties further stipulated to submit two additional issues to the trial court: (1) whether Steele was entitled to have attorney's fees and costs assessed against Kinsey based on Steele's unaccepted demand for judgment filed pursuant to section 768.79, Florida Statutes; and, if so, (2) whether United Auto's automobile liability insurance policy issued to Kinsey provided coverage for such attorney's fees and costs. (R1 148 at \P 4). To implement the stipulation regarding attorney's fees and costs, United Auto expressly submitted itself to the jurisdiction of the court, and the parties stipulated that the trial court would assume a judgment for plaintiff's damages of \$125,000 for purposes of assessing attorney's fees and costs under section 768.79. (R1 148 at \P 4). By order dated August 6, 2000, the trial court approved the stipulation by staying the

underlying action and reserving jurisdiction to consider Steele's entitlement to attorney's fees and costs pursuant to section 768.79, Florida Statutes. (R1 153).

settlement agreement, contemplated by the Motion to Determine Entitlement subsequently filed a Attorneys' Fees and Expenses Pursuant to Florida Statute 768.79 based on his unaccepted demand for judgment for \$10,000 and the stipulated judgment amount of \$125,000.2 (R1 182-93). Three specific issues were raised by Steele's motion: (1) the amount of Steele's attorney's fees and costs; (2) whether Steele's offer of judgment was made in good faith; and (3) whether United Auto's policy insuring Kinsey covered Steele's attorney's fees and costs to be assessed against United Auto's insured under section 768.79, Florida Statutes. (R3 414). Before the hearing on the motion began, the parties stipulated to the amount of Steele's attorney's fees and costs and deferred consideration of whether Steele's offer of judgment was made in good faith, leaving only the insurance coverage issue for the trial court's resolution. (R3 414-15).

In support of his motion, Steele introduced in evidence a copy of United Auto's insurance policy issued to Kinsey which provides bodily injury liability coverage with limits of \$10,000 per person and \$20,000 per accident and property damage liability

² Under section 768.79, Florida Statutes, plaintiff is entitled to attorney's fees and costs if the amount of the judgment exceeds the offer by at least twenty-five percent, assuming the offer is made in good faith. See § 768.79(1), Fla. Stat. (1995).

with limits of \$10,000 per accident. (R2 302). The policy's insuring agreement quoted below gives the insurer exclusive control over settlement and defense of claims based on the following language:

We will pay damages for bodily injury or property damage for which any **covered person** becomes legally responsible because of an auto accident. We will settle or defend, as we consider appropriate, any claim asking for these damages. Our duty to settle or defend ends when our limit of liability for this coverage has been exhausted.

(R2 306) (bold type in original).

In addition to the bodily injury liability and property damage limits, United Auto's policy includes a typical supplementary payments provision which provides as follows:

In addition to our limit of liability, we will pay on behalf of a **covered person**:

- 1. Up to \$250 for the cost of bail bonds required because of an accident, including related traffic law violations resulting in bodily injury or property damage covered under this policy.
- 2. Premiums on appeal bonds and bonds to release attachments in any suit we defend.
- 3. Interest accruing after a judgment is entered in any suit we defend. Our duty to pay interest ends when we offer to pay that part of a judgment which does not exceed our limit of liability for this coverage.
- 4. Up to \$50 a day for loss of earnings, but not other

income because of attendance at hearings or trials at our request.

5. Other reasonable expenses incurred at our request.

(R2 306) (bold type in original; underlining supplied). The outcome of the insurance coverage dispute in this case depends on whether the attorney's fees and costs assessed against the insured pursuant to section 768.79, Florida Statutes, are considered "[o]ther reasonable expenses incurred at our request." Although the policy defines several terms (R2 306), it notably does not define the term "expenses" or the phrase "incurred at our request." (R2 306, 313-14).

After considering the argument and authorities submitted by counsel, the trial court ruled in United Auto's favor by order dated August 25, 2000 (R2 354-57; Tab 2), and entered a Final Declaratory Judgment Determining Insurance Coverage on September 26, 2000, which holds as follows: "The court finds, declares and decrees that the automobile liability insurance policy issued by United Automobile Insurance Company to defendant Susan B. Kinsey does not provide coverage for plaintiff Kevin M. Steele's attorney's fees and costs to be awarded in this action pursuant to his demand for judgment." (R2 363; Tab 3).

3

³ On September 25, 2000, Steele filed a notice of appeal directed to the trial court's order dated August 25, 2000. (R2 358-62; Case No. 2D00-4295). Steele later filed a second notice of appeal on September 29, 2000, directed to the Final Declaratory

The District Court's Decision

In the district court below, the sole issue on appeal was whether the language in United Auto's supplementary payments provision, "[o]ther reasonable expenses incurred at our request," provides coverage for attorney's fees and costs assessed against United Auto's insured, Kinsey, pursuant to section 768.79, Florida Statutes (1995). Steele, 801 So. 2d at 298. Relying on Florida Ins. Guar. Ass'n v. Johnson, 654 So. 2d 239 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995), Steele argued in support of reversal that because the insurer controlled the defense and elected to continue litigation rather than accept Steele's demand for judgment, the subsequent attorney's fees and costs assessed against the insured pursuant to section 768.79, Florida Statutes, were covered under

Judgment Determining Insurance Coverage. (R2 364-65; Case No. 2D00-4384). While the appeals were pending, United Auto filed a motion to vacate the final declaratory judgment entered on September 26, 2000, on two grounds: (1) the trial court lacked jurisdiction to enter the final declaratory judgment on September 26, 2000, because Steele had filed a notice of appeal on September 25, 2000, and (2) the trial court lacked jurisdiction to enter judgment against United Auto because United Auto had not been served with process or otherwise made a party to the action. (R3 367-403). After conducting a hearing on United Auto's motion to vacate, the trial court determined that Steele's first notice of appeal had divested the trial court of jurisdiction to enter the original declaratory judgment and that United Auto had voluntarily submitted itself to the court's jurisdiction for a final determination of the insurance coverage issue. Based on those rulings, the trial court entered an Amended Final Declaratory Judgment Determining Insurance Coverage reaffirming its previous holding that United Auto's policy does not provide coverage for attorney's fees and costs based on Steele's demand for judgment. (R3 466-68; Tab 4). Steele filed a third notice of appeal directed to the amended declaratory judgment (R3 469-72; Case No. 2D01-533) and all three appeals were consolidated by district court order dated March 20, 2001.

the supplementary payments provision as "expenses incurred at our request." Steele, 801 So. 2d at 299. Steele also argued that the disputed policy language contained in the supplementary payments provision is ambiguous requiring a liberal construction favoring the insured. Steele, 801 So. 2d at 299.

Rejecting Steele's arguments, the district court affirmed United ruling held the trial court's and that supplementary payments provision does not provide coverage for attorney's fees and costs assessed against the insured under the offer of judgment statute. Certifying conflict with the fourth district's Johnson decision, the district court found that the language "expenses incurred at our request" within the context of Kinsey's policy is unambiguous and limits the insurer's obligation to "expenses that it had authorized and over which it had control, such as the selection of a service or product of known value and cost." Steele, 801 So. 2d at 299. In the district court's view, attorney's fees and costs incurred by the opposing party and taxed against the insured are not included in that definition.

The district court acknowledged that "[i]t may be preferable, as a matter of public policy, for the entity that has the sole right to settle or litigate a damages claim to be ultimately responsible for paying the resulting extra expenses . . . when the litigation concludes favorably to the other side," but felt constrained by the written

contract to reach a contrary result. <u>Steele</u>, 801 So. 2d at 300. The district court further noted that, although its opinion might produce unjust results since the losing insured rather than insurer which controlled the litigation would be liable for attorney's fees and costs, "any remedy for that injustice is within the sphere of the legislature, not the courts." <u>Steele</u>, 801 So. 2d at 300.

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

WHETHER THE SUPPLEMENTARY PAYMENTS PROVISION OF AN AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY INSURANCE POLICY WHICH PROVIDES COVERAGE IN ADDITION TO THE BODILY INJURY LIABILITY AND PROPERTY DAMAGE LIMITS FOR "OTHER REASONABLE EXPENSES INCURRED AT OUR REQUEST" COVERS ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS ASSESSED AGAINST THE INSURED PURSUANT TO THE OFFER OF JUDGMENT STATUTE, SECTION 768.79, FLORIDA STATUTES, WHEN THE INSURER, WHICH CONTROLS SETTLEMENT AND DEFENSE OF CLAIMS, DECIDES TO LITIGATE RATHER THAN ACCEPT CLAIMANT'S DEMAND FOR JUDGMENT

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

For several reasons, the district court erred by holding that attorney's fees and costs assessed against the defendant-insured under the offer of judgment statute, section 768.79, Florida Statutes, are not covered under an automobile liability insurance policy which provides coverage over and above the bodily injury liability and property damage limits for "[o]ther reasonable expenses incurred at our request." First, the district court incorrectly reasoned that the policy language in question is clear and unambiguous. The critical phrase "[o]ther reasonable expenses incurred at our request" is not defined by the policy and, when read with the policy provision giving the insurer exclusive control over the defense and settlement of claims, is susceptible to more than one reasonable interpretation. In particular, the disputed policy language could be interpreted narrowly, as the district court held, to cover only specific requests made by the insurer for the insured to incur expenses for a "service or product of a known value and cost." Steele, 801 So. 2d at 299. On the other hand, the supplementary payments provision is susceptible to an equally reasonable interpretation advanced by the Johnson court which would provide coverage for expenses requested by implication based on the insurer's decision to continue litigation rather than settle. When, as here, the policy is susceptible to more than one reasonable interpretation, one providing coverage and the other limiting coverage, the policy is ambiguous and must be construed in favor of the insured.

Second, this court should approve and apply the rationale from the fourth district's decision in Florida Ins. Guar. Ass'n, Inc. v. Johnson, 654 So. 2d 239 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995), which held that costs taxed against the insured in excess of his policy's bodily injury liability limit were covered under a supplementary payments provision with language identical to the policy language contested at bar. The Johnson court recognized that because a liability insurance policy gives the insurer exclusive control over the defense and settlement of claims, the policy should cover the insured's costs (and presumably attorney's fees) assessed against the insured as a result of the insurer's unilateral decision to litigate rather than settle. In the instant case, because United Auto rejected Steele's demand for judgment for policy limits of \$10,000 and elected to litigate the claim, the policy's supplementary payments provision should be interpreted, as in <u>Johnson</u>, to require the insurer to cover the attorney's fees and costs assessed against the insured under section 768.79, Florida Statutes, as a direct result of that decision. In other words, by unilaterally deciding to litigate, the insurer effectively requested its insured to incur expenses in the form of prevailing party attorney's fees and taxable costs, and those expenses should be covered under the supplementary payments provision which obligates the insurer to pay "[o]ther reasonable expenses incurred at our

request."

Third, a determination that United Auto's supplementary payments provision covers attorney's fees and costs assessed against its insured under section 768.79, Florida Statutes, will be consistent with the legislature's intent in enacting that statute to conserve judicial resources and reduce legal expenses by encouraging early settlement of litigation.

ARGUMENT

A.

Standard of Review

This issue before the court involves the construction of an automobile liability insurance policy based on undisputed facts which raises a pure question of law subject to de novo review. See Coleman v. Florida Ins. Guar. Ass'n, Inc., 517 So. 2d 686, 690 (Fla. 1988).

в.

Ambiguous Policy Language

The supplementary payments provision typically found in liability insurance policies provides coverage for incidental litigation expenses over and above the stated limits of liability for bodily injury and property damage. The supplementary payments provision applies irrespective of whether the policy provides coverage for a particular loss. See Pacific Employers Ins. Co. v. Alex Hofrichter, P.A., 670 So. 2d 1023, 1025 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996).

As pertinent to the instant case, United Auto's supplementary payments provision covers "[o]ther reasonable expenses incurred at our request." (R2 306). The pivotal issue before this court is whether attorney's fees and costs assessed against the insured under the offer of judgment statute, section

768.79, Florida Statutes (1995), are "[o]ther reasonable expenses incurred at our request" which United Auto would be required to pay in addition to its bodily injury liability limit. Although it defines several other terms, United Auto's policy does not define the word "expenses" and, as noted by the trial judge, that term "has no common definition in the legal profession." (R3 441). The policy likewise does not define or explain the meaning of the dispositive phrase "incurred at our request."

"The lack of a definition of an operative term in a policy does not necessarily render the term ambiguous and in need of interpretation by the courts." State Farm <u>Fire & Cas. Co. v. CTC Development Corp.</u>, 720 So. 2d 1072, 1076 (Fla. 1998). However, when the undefined term "is susceptible to more than one reasonable interpretation, one providing coverage and the other limiting coverage, the insurance policy is considered ambiguous." Auto-Owners Ins. Co. v. Anderson, 756 So. 2d 29, 34 (Fla. 2000). In this case, as explained hereafter, United Auto's failure to define the operative terms "expenses" and "incurred at our request" creates a policy ambiguity which must be resolved in favor of coverage under the basic tenet of construction which holds that ambiquities are construed liberally in favor of the insured and strictly against the insurer. See CTC Development, 720 So. 2d at 1076.

Disagreeing with Steele's position and the fourth district's decision in Johnson,

the district court below found that the disputed policy provision was not ambiguous and "that the language 'expenses incurred at our request' is clear on its face and should be applied according to its generally understood meaning." <u>Steele</u>, 801 So. 2d at 299. Applying dictionary definitions, the district court explained:

The common meaning of "request" is "the act of asking, or expressing a desire, for something; solicitation or petition." Webster's New World College Dictionary 1218 (4th ed. 2001). The legal meaning of the word is "[a]n asking or petition. The expression of a desire to some person for something to be granted or done, particularly for the payment of a debt or performance of a contract." Black's Law Dictionary 1172 (5th ed. 1979). Both of these commonly understood definitions reinforce the clear use of the term within the context of the policy—that the insurer intended to pay for expenses that it had authorized and over which it had control, such as the selection of a service or product of known value and cost.

Steele, 801 So. 2d at 299.

With the utmost respect, the district court's dictionary-based analysis is too restrictive and overlooks basic principles of insurance policy construction. First, the district court's interpretation of the supplementary payments provision overlooks the settled principle "that a single insurance policy provision should not be considered in isolation, but should be construed with other policy provisions against the background of the case." Mathews v. Ranger Ins. Co., 281 So. 2d 345, 348 (Fla. 1973). The disputed language from the supplementary payments provision must be construed with the policy provision which gives the insurer

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