IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE

STATE OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC02-152

KEVIN STEELE,

Petitioner,

VS.

SUSAN B. KINSEY and UNITED AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondents.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND DISTRICT CASE NOS. 2D002-4295, 2D00-4384 and 2D01-533

RESPONDENT UNITED AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

HINDA KLEIN, ESQUIRE CONROY, SIMBERG, GANON, KREVANS & ABEL, P.A. 3440 Hollywood Blvd. Second Floor Hollywood, Fla. 33021 (305) 961-1400 (Dade)

(954) 940-4821 (Broward)

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The policy language requiring UNITED AUTO to pay "other reasonable" expenses incurred at our request" does not provide coverage for a plaintiff's attorneys' fees assessed against its insured pursuant to a demand for judgment. The clause in question does not specify that such fees are covered, nor is it ambiguous in any way that would permit a court to construe the language to require that the insurer pay the plaintiff's fees. The failure to define a word or clause does not, in and of itself, render the clause ambiguous; a clause is only ambiguous if there are alternative reasonable interpretations. It is patently unreasonable to construe the clause to require payment of the prosecution's fees in addition to the fees of defense counsel, since that is clearly not a risk assumed by an insurer when it agrees to defend an insured. Since the clause is not ambiguous, it must be enforced as written and since it does not require insurer's to pay attorneys' fee awards, there is no coverage under the policy as written.

This Court has issued several opinions addressing an insurer's liability for attorneys' fees assessed against their insureds under prevailing party fee statutes and has found that such clauses did not obligate the carrier to cover such fees, unless they were assessed as costs. Like the statute at issue in those cases, Florida Statute 768.79 does not specify that fees assessed will be taxed as costs and

therefore, the insurer's liability to pay costs assessed against an insured does not extend to fees.

Sparks v. Barnes, 755 So. 2d 718 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000) provides further support for UNITED AUTO'S argument that there is no basis upon which to assess fees against it. In Sparks, the Second District refused to permit a plaintiff to add the insurer to a judgment for fees rendered against the insured. The Court noted that the carrier was not a party to the litigation and absent a statutory or contractual basis obligating the carrier to pay such fees, they could not be assessed against the carrier, absent a finding of bad faith. While the court recognized the apparent inequity of the situation where a carrier "calls the shots" in litigation but does not have to pay an attorneys' fees award, the Court also recognized that this inequity could only be cured by the legislature, and not the courts.

STEELE'S reliance from decisions from other jurisdictions is unavailing as none of those decisions is remotely factually similar to the case at bar. In all of the cases cited by STEELE, courts in other jurisdictions found that in first party cases between the insured and his or her carrier, the insured was entitled to recover attorneys' fees expended in defending a coverage action brought by the carrier, as the carrier's litigation essentially forced the insured to pay expenses "at the carrier's request". None of the cases relied upon by STEELE involved third-party claims for

fees and none of those cases address the interrelationship between the supplementary payments clause at issue and an offer of judgment statute.

Finally, STEELE'S argument that the legislative intent behind the offer of judgment statute should compel this Court to ignore both the language of the policy as well as the express language of the statute is groundless. It is well-established public policy in this State that attorneys' fees may only be assessed based on contractual or statutory grounds. Absent such grounds, the fees are simply not recoverable under the policy.

The Second District's order should be approved.

ARGUMENT

UNITED AUTOMOBILE'S SUPPLEMENTARY PAYMENTS
PROVISION, WHICH PROVIDES COVERAGE FOR
"OTHER REASONABLE EXPENSES INCURRED AT OUR
REQUEST", DOES NOT COVER PLAINTIFF'S
ATTORNEYS' FEES ASSESSED AGAINST THE INSURED
DEFENDANT PURSUANT TO A DEMAND FOR
JUDGMENT

A. Standard of Review

STEELE correctly states that the standard of review from an order construing an insurance policy as a matter of law is <u>de novo</u>. <u>See, Coleman v.</u> <u>Florida Ins. Guar. Ass'n, Inc.</u> 517 So. 2d 686 (Fla. 1988).

B. Notwithstanding the Second District's certification, there is no "express and direct conflict" and this Court has no jurisdiction to consider this case.

This Court has not definitively accepted jurisdiction to consider this case and we submit that, upon review, it should determine that there is no "express and direct conflict" among the District Courts of Appeal establishing this court's jurisdiction. See, Fla. Const. Article V, Section 3(b)(3). The Second District's decision in this case addresses the issue of whether attorneys fees assessed against an insured pursuant to an Offer of Judgment are covered under the Supplementary Payments provision of UNITED AUTO'S policy. The Fourth District's opinion in

Florida Insurance Guaranty Ass'n v. Johnson, 654 So. 2d 239 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995) does not address that same issue but instead, addresses the question of whether **costs** assessed against an insured are covered under the same language of the policy.

Nowhere in Johnson does the Fourth District Court of Appeal hold that the Supplementary Payments language common to both cases is ambiguous. Therefore, the Second District's finding in this case that the language is not ambiguous is not in conflict with the Fourth District's opinion. Moreover, since Johnson involved the issue of coverage for costs and this case deals with the issue of coverage for fees and there are different policy considerations underlying both opinions, see infra, p.14-16, the decisions can readily be reconciled without this court's intervention. This Court should decline to accept jurisdiction in this case.

C. The Policy Language in question is not ambiguous and, even if it is, it should not be construed to provide coverage for STEELE'S attorneys' fees

STEELE contends that the language in question, "other reasonable expenses incurred at our request" is ambiguous, and that, as a result, it should be construed broadly to provide coverage for STEELE'S attorneys' fees. STEELE contends that UNITED AUTO'S failure to define "expenses incurred at our request" results

in an ambiguity. However, as STEELE himself admits, the mere failure to define terms in a policy does not render policy language ambiguous. Rather, the question is whether the terms or phrases themselves are ambiguous such that a reasonable person could not understand their meaning. We contend that they are not but even if they are, as the Second District recognized, STEELE'S assertion that his attorneys' fees could be deemed to be "expenses incurred at [UNITED AUTO'S] request" is not a reasonable interpretation of that language such that the Court could or should find that the clause in question provides coverage for those fees, even in the event that this Court finds that the clause is ambiguous.

STEELE assumes that all he has to do is to convince this Court that the clause in question is ambiguous and he wins. That is not the case. One seeking coverage under allegedly ambiguous policy language has a two-fold burden: to convince the court that the clause in question is ambiguous because there are alternative **reasonable** interpretations of the same language **and** to convince the Court that his or her interpretation is, in fact, **reasonable**. STEELE has failed to meet either of his burdens here.

STEELE argues that "expenses incurred at our request" is ambiguous because it is not defined. However, it is axiomatic that not every word or phrase in an insurance policy requires definition and the mere failure to provide definitions

does not, in and of itself, render a word or phrase ambiguous. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. CTC Development Corp., 720 So. 2d 1072 (Fla. 1998). Rather, ambiguity in an insurance policy arises where more than one reasonable interpretation may fairly be given a particular policy provision. See, id. at 1076; State Farm Fire and Cas. Co. v. Metropolitan Dade County, 639 So. 2d 63 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1994), rev. denied, 649 So. 2d 234. STEELE'S alternative interpretation that "expenses incurred at our request" could fairly be read to cover the Plaintiff's counsel's fees expended in suing UNITED AUTO'S insured is simply not reasonable, as such fees (assuming they are deemed "expenses") were most definitely not incurred at the carrier's "request", nor would they have been under any circumstance.

Courts review policy provisions in light of the character of the risks assumed by an insurer. South Carolina Ins. Co. v. Heuer, 402 So. 2d 480 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981), rev. denied, 412 So. 2d 465, O'Conner v. Safeco Ins. Co. v. North

America, 352 So. 2d 1244 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977). If viewed in this light, STEELE'S contention that the clause in question covers his fees makes no sense because, while carriers assume the risk of having to defend the insured and the contract requires the carrier to pay all expenses associated with that defense, there is nothing in the contract or within the realm of common sense that indicates that a carrier also

assumes the risk of paying for the **prosecution** of a claim against the insured. Such an analysis would result in an absurd result, contrary to principles of policy construction. See, Deni Associates of Florida, Inc. v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Ins. Co., 711 So. 2d 1135 (Fla. 1998) (insurance policies will not be construed so as to reach an absurd result). Since STEELE has failed to provide this Court with an alternative **reasonable** construction of the language in question, he has not demonstrated the requisite ambiguity necessary to compel this Court to go beyond the plain language of the clause. Cf, Weldon v. All American Life Ins. Co., 605 So. 2d 911 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992)(when terms make contract subject to different reasonable interpretations, one of coverage and one of exclusion ambiguity exists). Where no ambiguity exists, courts may not go beyond the plain language of a clause and must give effect to the policy as written. Perrine Food Retailers, Inc. v. Odyssey Re (London) Ltd., 721 So. 2d 402 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1992).

Tellingly, although the clause in question is a common one, STEELE has not been able to find a single case, in this or any other state, holding that the clause is ambiguous. In fact, as we argued, supra pp 10-11, the Fourth District in Johnson did not find that the clause was ambiguous in its opinion construing the phrase as applied to taxable costs, although that was clearly one of the issues on appeal.

Rather, the appellate court simply applied the clause as written and determined that

the term "expenses" included taxable costs and that such costs were "incurred at [the insurer's] request" by virtue of the carrier's failure to settle.² We disagree with STEELE that the <u>Johnson</u> court implicitly determined that the supplementary payments provision was ambiguous, simply because it found that the carrier was liable for taxable costs under that provision. The Court simply applied the clause as written, finding that the term "expenses" necessarily included costs and that an insurance carrier impliedly requests that such costs be incurred when it unilaterally decides to litigate a claim.

We believe that the <u>Johnson</u> court was simply wrong in construing the unambiguous language of this clause in a manner that simply makes no sense.

Neither the plaintiff's costs nor attorneys' fees could been deemed to have been "incurred" at the insurer's request. The fact that the <u>Johnson</u> court did not find the clause ambiguous but construed it in a manner that was, at best, strained and at worst, nonsensical, illustrates that the decision was rendered without regard to the foregoing well-established principles of policy construction, which prohibits a court from rewriting a policy to add meaning that is not present or to reach results contrary to the intentions of the parties. <u>See, Excelsior Ins. Co. v. Pomona Park</u>

² UNITED AUTO did not dispute its liability for taxable costs under the Supplementary Payments provision, in light of the <u>Johnson</u> decision. (R.443-444)

Bar & Package Store, 369 So. 2d 938 (Fla. 1979)(rule that ambiguities in contract are to be construed in favor of insured apply only when there is a genuine ambiguity and do not permit courts to rewrite contracts).

In any event, even if the <u>Johnson</u> court was correct in construing the clause to apply to apply to taxable costs, that decision is not dispositive of the issue in this case which is whether the clause could be construed so as to require a carrier to pay the plaintiff's attorneys' fees. This Court has already addressed this issue, albeit in light of slightly different contract language, and found that the Plaintiff's attorneys' fees, which were assessed against insureds under former statute 768.56 (which provided that the prevailing party in a malpractice suit was entitled to recover attorneys' fees from the losing party) were not covered under the defendant's insurance policies.

In Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. Moxley, 557 So. 2d 863 (Fla. 1990), this Court found that a supplementary payments provision in the carrier's policy, which provided coverage for "all expenses incurred by the company [and] all costs taxed against the named insured in any suit defended by the company" did not provide coverage for attorneys' fees, which were not taxed as costs. The court relied on its prior decision in Spiegel v. Williams, 545 So. 2d 1360 (Fla. 1989), in which it construed the clause requiring the insurer to pay "all costs of defending a

suit, including interest on that part of any judgment that doesn't exceed the limit of your coverage." In finding that the attorneys' fees assessed against the insured were not covered as "costs of defending a suit", Justice Grimes reasoned:

We do not see how the statutory award of **plaintiff's** attorneys' fees can be construed to be a **cost** of **defending** a suit.

While a policy could not doubt be written specifically to cover courtawarded attorneys' fees, liability insurers are normally only responsible for the payment of the plaintiff's attorneys' fees where bad faith is involved or the insured prevails in a direct action against the company [citations omitted] On the other hand, liability insurers have usually been responsible for the payment of taxable costs over and above the policy limits. [citations omitted] Therefore, the result reached by the district court of appeal would be justified if the award of the plaintiff's attorneys' fees could be considered as a species of taxable costs. Yet, ever since this Court's decision in State ex rel. Royal Insurance Co. v. Barrs, 87 Fla. 168, 99 So. 668 (1924), attorneys' fees recoverable by statute are regarded as 'costs' only when specified as such by the statute which authorizes their recovery. [citations omitted] Indeed, there are some statutes which provide for an award of attorneys' fees to be taxed as costs. [citation omitted] However, section 768.56, Florida Statutes (1981) did not specify that attorneys' fees could be taxed as costs.

Id. at 1362. This Court followed this decision with Smith v. Sitomer, 550 So. 2d 461 (Fla. 1989), in which the court found that a liability policy covering "all expenses incurred by the Staff Fund, all costs taxed against the member in any suit defended by the Staff fund and all interest on the entire amount of any judgment" did not cover attorneys' fees against the insured because the attorneys' fees were

not assessed as "costs".

This Court has consistently found, when construing Supplementary

Payments Provisions similar to the one at bar, that those provisions do not cover attorneys' fees assessed against an insured unless those fees were assessed as costs. According to Spiegal, said fees are only assessed as costs if the statute under which they are being assessed specifically provides that such fees shall be taxed as costs. Like former statute 768.56, Florida Statute 768.79 does not so provide. Since the Spiegal Court recognized that "liability insurers are normally only responsible for the payment of the plaintiff's attorneys' fees where bad faith is involved or the insured prevails in a direct action against the company," there is simply no authority for departing from the rule in this case.

D. Sparks v. Barnes is persuasive authority for affirmance.

Admittedly <u>Sparks v. Barnes</u>, 755 So. 2d 718 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999) is somewhat distinguishable from this case but contrary to STEELE'S argument,, its precepts hold true here. In <u>Sparks</u>, the Second District addressed this issue in the context of whether the Plaintiff was entitled to recover his attorneys' fees directly from the insurer by adding the insurer to the judgment against the insured pursuant to the non-joinder statute. In holding that the Plaintiff could not collect his attorneys' fees directly from the carrier, the Court found that the Plaintiff did not

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